**RECEIVED**  
**Oct 04 2022**  
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM HAMPTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
The Honorable Kristi F. Curtis

Appellate Case No. 2021-000685

The Station, Inc. d/b/a Company Two, Inc.,.....Appellant,

v.

Hampton County, .....Respondent.

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BARNES LAW FIRM, LLC  
Kathleen C. Barnes, SC Bar No. 78854  
kbarnes@barneslawfirmnc.com  
P.O. Box 897  
Hampton, SC 29924  
803-943-4529

WILSON LAW GROUP, LLC  
J. Christopher Wilson, SC Bar No. 06987  
chris@wilsonlawgroupsc.com  
P.O. Box 1150  
Bamberg, SC 29003  
803-245-7799

**Attorneys for Appellant**

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the lower court erred in granting the County's motion for a directed verdict as to breach of contract?
- II. Whether the lower court erred in granting the County's motion for a directed verdict as to specific performance?
- III. Whether the lower court erred in granting the County's motion for a directed verdict as to promissory estoppel?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is a dispute about whether Appellant The Station, Inc., d/b/a Company Two, a business that refurbishes airport rescue firefighting (ARFF) trucks, has a contractual or equitable agreement with Respondent Hampton County to test the trucks on the runway of the Hampton County airport.

On April 28, 2017, Company Two and Q&J Properties, LLC, filed this action against Hampton County asserting causes of action for breach of contract, promissory estoppel, and specific performance. (R. pp. 45-49). On February 27, 2018, Company Two filed an amended complaint to remove Q&J Properties from the action. (R. pp. 24, 51). On March 8, 2018, the County filed an answer and counterclaims.<sup>1</sup> (R. p. 56).

On May 4, 2018, the County filed a motion for summary judgment. (R. p. 64). On July 20, 2018, the Honorable Perry M. Buckner, III, denied the motion and subsequent motion to reconsider. (R. p. 26). On August 30, 2019, the lower court entered a Form 4 Order stating the parties settled the case and dismissed it. (R. p. 38). However, after County Council did not approve the settlement, the court restored the case to the jury roster. (Consent Order).

On May 25-27, 2021, the lower court held a trial of this case. On May 26, the lower court granted a directed verdict on Company Two's causes of action for breach of contract and specific

---

<sup>1</sup> The County withdrew all counterclaims at the end of trial. (R. p. 851).

performance. (R. pp. 622-24). The Court then decided to dismiss the jury and try the remaining promissory estoppel cause of action non-jury. (R. p. 627). After trial, the parties briefed the County's motion for directed verdict as to the remaining cause of action for promissory estoppel and briefed the merits of the claim. (R. p. 95). On October 8, 2021, the lower court granted a directed verdict on the promissory estoppel claim.

Company Two filed a timely notice of appeal on June 24, 2021, and an amended notice of appeal on November 8, 2021. (R. pp. 1, 15).

## **FACTS**

Company Two is a business that buys used fire trucks, refurbishes them, and sells or leases them to customers. (R. p. 224). Only three companies in the world are in the fire truck refurbishment business. (R. pp. 232-33).

There are numerous types of fire trucks. Around 2004, Company Two began to buy and refurbish airport rescue firefighting trucks, known as ARFF trucks. (R. pp. 224-25). An ARFF truck is specifically built for airport operations and emergency services, and the Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) requires an airport to have an ARFF truck to keep its certification. (R. p. 930). An ARFF truck is required to pump water while moving—it must extinguish a fire while en route to a downed airplane. (R. pp. 225-26).

An ARFF truck must be certified for Company Two to sell or lease it to a customer. (R. pp. 228-29). Certification is governed by the FAA and the International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO). (R. p. 228). Certification entails 15 tests, two of which are particularly relevant to this case—the acceleration test and speed test. (R. pp. 228-29). These tests must be done on asphalt or concrete. (R. pp 234, 909).

The acceleration test requires an ARFF truck to go from zero to fifty-miles-per-hour in a certain amount of time dependent on the size of the truck. (R. p. 229). For example, a 3000-gallon

truck must go from zero to fifty-miles-per-hour in under 50 seconds. (R. pp. 229-30). The truck is tested driving one direction, and then turned around and tested driving in the other direction. (R. p. 230). The average of the tests is the acceleration. (R. p. 230).

The speed test requires an ARFF truck to reach seventy-miles-per-hour. (R. p. 231). This test is required for certain sales bids that Company Two submits. (R. p. 261). Company Two needs at least 3000 feet of runway to conduct this test. (R. p. 232). The Hampton County airport runway is just under 3600 feet. (R. p. 232).

An ARFF truck is not made for use on a highway or interstate, the only types of public roadway where it could legally reach seventy-miles-per-hour. (R. pp. 260-61, 870-81). Transporting an ARFF truck to another location for testing requires a tractor-trailer and oversize permits. (R. pp. 259-60). That transportation increases the cost of Company Two's bid on a contract to lease or sell ARFF trucks, thereby reducing its competitiveness. (R. pp. 257-60, 267, 879-80, 914).

In 2005, 2011, and 2014, Hampton County entered into three separate agreements involving the airport. In 2005, Hampton County contracted to allow Company Two access to and use of the airport runway to test fire trucks. (R. pp. 379-80, 428-29). In 2011 and 2014, Hampton County contracted to trade properties with and grant an easement to Q&J Properties, a company that owned property adjacent to the Hampton County airport and leased to Company Two. (R. pp. 1021-27). The parties disagree about the meanings of and relationship between these contracts. Qunicy Jones, the owner of Company Two and partial owner of Q&J Properties, testified that "[t]hey're three separate documents, [involving] three separate entities." (R. p. 321).

## **I. THE 2005 AGREEMENT BETWEEN COMPANY TWO AND THE COUNTY**

In 2005 Company Two operated in Atlanta, Georgia, and was looking for a place to relocate. (R. p. 235). Company Two needed to relocate near an airport to conduct the certification tests. (R. pp. 228, 235). Mr. Jones had family from Hampton County and looked into it, among others, as a potential location. (R. pp. 228, 235-36, 287). Hampton County ended up as “the one that offered [Company Two] the access to the airport.” (R. p. 287).

In 2005, the Hampton County airport was minimally used and not well kept. (R. p. 238). The FAA requires airports to do foreign object debris (FOD) clean-up, and Hampton County neglected to do it for a while. (R. p. 239). County Council considered abandoning the County airport and partnering with Allendale County for a regional airport. (R. p. 417).

In 2005, Mr. Jones spoke to Sabrina Graham, then Hampton County Administrator, who told him to contact Jim Daniels, then Economic Development Coordinator. (R. p. 237). Mr. Jones told Mr. Daniels that, for Company Two to relocate to Hampton County, Company Two needed access to the Hampton County airport runway to test fire trucks. (R. pp. 237-38).

In 2005, Mr. Jones attended a Hampton County Council meeting with Mr. Daniels. (R. p. 241). Council routinely discussed economic development matters in executive session for competitive, strategic, and legal reasons. (R. pp. 412-13). In executive session, Mr. Daniels told Council that Company Two needed to use the airport runway to test fire trucks. (R. pp. 368-69). County Council knew that it is critical to Company Two’s business to use the airport runway for tests and “that was one of the things [it] needed” to relocate to Hampton County. (R. pp. 375-77, 419-20).

Willard Wilson, a County Councilman at the time, testified that “the airport was doing nothing” and “it was the consensus of the Council to allow him [Company Two] to use that airport

for his instruments [fire truck testing].” (R. p. 369). The full Council gave approval “to form an agreement for the company, and allow . . . [it] to use the runway to test [] equipment.” (R. pp. 374-75). At the time, Hampton County “didn’t have any industry” and Company Two “was exciting, because we had something coming in that was going to give some employment.” (R. pp. 368, 371). Mr. Wilson testified there was no doubt in his mind that, in 2005, “County Council and Company Two reached an agreement where Company Two would have access to the airport property, including the runway to test fire trucks.” (R. pp. 379-80).

Mr. Daniels testified consistently with Mr. Wilson. He said the purpose of the executive session was “to assist a contract on” Company Two’s use of the airport to test fire trucks. (R. p. 411). Mr. Daniels testified there is “no doubt” in his mind “that Company Two and Hampton County reached an agreement that provided Company Two with access to the Airport property to test trucks.” (R. pp. 428-29, 463).

Hampton County agreed to allow Company Two to use the runway to test fire trucks and to provide a taxiway from its adjacent business location to the runway. (R. pp. 240, 242). In exchange, Company Two relocated to Hampton County and performed maintenance and FOD clean-up for the airport. (R. pp. 238-39, 242). After the meeting, Mr. Daniels told Mr. Jones that he would follow-up with a formal letter. (R. p. 243).

On October 12, 2005, Mr. Daniels sent the letter, after approval from the County Attorney and County Administrator. (R. pp. 985, 428). The lower court found it was an agreement to agree in the future about a property swap and taxiway. (R. pp. 18, 21). Company Two testified that, in this letter, County Council and County Economic Development gave Company Two permission to use the airport runway to test fire trucks. (R. pp. 288, 304-06).

Hampton County is excited about the prospect of having Company Two  
Fire locate here. You **requested that certain commitments be made by the**

**county to assist you in making a decision** about locating in the Gemco building .  
...

Hampton County Council has **authorized me to make the following commitments to you concerning the Hampton-Varnville Airport. Hampton County agrees to provide you with a private taxiway right to use from the northeast tip of the airport to the Gemco property line.** The county also **agrees to** clear and rough grade the taxiway to the Gemco property line. The county also **plans to** move forward with improvements to the airport including the installation of runway lights as soon as possible. During discussions with Administrator Sabrena Posey Graham, Airport Commission Chairman Lee Ellis and myself in earlier this year it was indicated that the county **desires** to obtain a portion of the Gemco property adjacent to the airport to facilitate necessary upgrades. We **would appreciate** your commitment to grant this portion of property to the county provided we give you a similar amount of acreage to the west or southwest of the Gemco property. By way of letter, Hampton County Council concurs with that request.

(R. p. 985) (emphasis added). The only actual agreements in the letter are that the County “agrees to” provide Company Two with a “private taxiway right to use from the northeast tip of the airport to the Gemco property line” and “agrees to clear and rough grade the taxiway.” (R. p. 985). All other matters in the letter are future prospects of “plans” and “desires.” (R. p. 985). Mr. Daniels copied the County Administrator and Airport Commission Chairman on the letter. (R. pp. 985, 245).

The letter’s reference to Company Two’s use of “the northeast tip of the airport to the Gemco property line” means use of the “entire airport property” because that description includes all of the airport property and runway. (R. pp. 250-53, 308-310, 540).

On October 17, 2005, after the agreement between the County and Company Two, Q&J Properties bought the Gemco Property adjacent to the Hampton County airport. (R. pp. 663, 994-97). Company Two began leasing the property from Q&J in reliance on the 2005 agreement. (R. pp. 254, 262, 283-84).

## **II. THE 2011 AGREEMENT BETWEEN Q&J PROPERTIES AND THE COUNTY**

The County did not pursue the property trade mentioned in the 2005 letter until 2011. On June 23, 2011, Hampton County and “Q&J Properties, LLC d/b/a Company Two Fire Apparatus” entered into an agreement to “swap” properties. (R. pp. 1021-28). Hampton County agreed to convey 3.0 acres to Q&J and build a taxiway from Q&J’s property to the airport runway in exchange for Q&J conveying to the County 1.767 acres for “future development of the runway.” (R. pp. 1021-28). This is completely different property than the property described in the 2005 agreement.

The County also agreed to grant Q&J “an easement in gross of a commercial nature for the sole and exclusive use of the taxiway.” (R. p. 1022). The agreement is “the entire understanding and agreement between the parties”—the County and Q&J. (R. p. 1024). Company Two was not a party to the agreement. (R. p. 1021). It states the “land swap and completion of the grass taxiway will be completed no later than June 30, 2011,” but the parties did not do it for over three years. (R. p. 1024).

## **III. THE 2014 EASEMENT AGREEMENT BETWEEN Q&J PROPERTIES AND THE COUNTY**

In December 2014, the County and Q&J Properties entered into an easement agreement. (R. pp. 1036-42). The County is the “Grantor”, and Q&J is the “Grantee.” (R. p. 1036).

The agreement defines the “Easement Area” as the taxiway between the airport runway and Q&J’s property. (R. p. 1036). It states Q&J “shall have no other rights in and to any other portion of the Grantor Property<sup>2</sup> except the Easement Area.” (R. p. 1036). This is completely different property than the property described in the 2005 agreement. *Compare* R. p. 985 *with* R.

---

<sup>2</sup> “Grantor Property” is defined as the 1.767 acres that Q&J conveyed to the County in the land swap. (R. p. 1041).

p. 1036. The agreement also states it is “the complete agreement and understanding of the Parties”—the County and Q&J—and all prior agreements are merged. (R. p. 1038). Company Two is not a party to the agreement. (R. p. 1036).

Mr. Jones testified the property trade was a second, “separate deal” from the 2005 agreement for Company Two to relocate to Hampton County and provide maintenance and clean-up in exchange for using the runway to test its trucks. (R. pp. 247-48, 292, 296, 298, 300, 321). He said the airport property referenced in the 2005 letter is completely different from the properties referenced in the 2011 and 2014 deed and easement. (R. p. 321).

#### **IV. COMPANY TWO’S ACTION AGAINST THE COUNTY; DIRECTED VERDICTS IN FAVOR OF THE COUNTY**

From 2005 to 2015, the parties performed and complied with the 2005 agreement. Company Two performed FOD clean-up and maintenance, including rock removal and spray cleaning the runway. (R. pp. 242-43, 336, 344-45, 359-60, 784). Company Two conducted fire truck tests on the airport runway an average of one to five times per month, and the tests took less than three minutes. (R. p. 254). County employees knew Company Two tested fire trucks on the runway. (R. pp. 346, 537, 374-75).

The airport does not have a control tower but, instead, operates under visual flight rules that require a pilot to circle the runway to make sure it is clear before landing. (R. p. 254). Company Two cleared the airspace before conducting tests.<sup>3</sup> (R. pp. 254-55).

Kevin Weinberg worked with Company Two as an ARFF mechanic/consultant/technician. (R. pp. 856, 862). From 2007 to 2015, he personally drove trucks on the Hampton County airport runway about 20 times and witnessed between 25 and 50 other runway tests. (R. pp. 900-01).

---

<sup>3</sup> When an airport temporarily shuts down for maintenance or any reason, it issues a notification to all airmen (NOTAM) as an advisory. (R. pp. 360-62).

County representatives were sometimes at the airport during the testing. (R. pp. 901-03). Weinberg testified that Company Two did FOD clean-up during that time but he never saw the County do any runway clean-up. (R. pp. 898-99, 918).

In 2015, Rose Elliott became the new Hampton County Administrator. (R. 256, 778). On March 6, 2015, the County and Q&J Properties signed the deeds to complete the property swap. (R. pp. 1029-35). Shortly thereafter, Elliott instructed a County employee to tell Company Two to stay off of the airport runway. (R. 256). The County gave no formal notice of termination. Company Two complied with the request and attempted to reach another agreement with the County before ultimately filing suit in 2017. (R. pp. 998-1000).

The County's conduct caused Company Two's business costs to increase by about 5-6% annually. (R. pp. 257-59). Company Two is forced to pay to transport fire trucks out of the area and put more wear and tear on the special tires that cost \$4,000 each and have only about 500 useful miles. (R. pp. 258-60, 956). Company Two leases its business location from Q&J Properties for \$3,500.00 per month, and a lease at another facility with access to an airport runway will cost \$12,000-\$15,000 per month. (R. pp. 262-63).

Company Two also lost a bid on a \$4,900,000 contract to sell 10 ARFF trucks to islands in the South Pacific because the bid required on-site testing that it could no longer conduct. (R. pp. 263-73, 968, 986-993). Robert Shaub, Company Two's expert in airport rescue and firefighting trucks and the bid buying and selling process for ARFF trucks, testified that Company Two was "the leader in the ARFF" remanufacture business, which included only three companies, and was "in the best position out of all of the manufacturers" to win the bid. (R. pp. 937, 946, 965). Shaub testified that Company Two was forced to increase its bid due to additional costs to transport the trucks for testing and had to take exception to the requirement for on-site testing. (R. p. 972). This

lost Company Two the bid. (R. pp. 972, 978, 979). It expected a \$1,000,000 profit but, instead, made only about \$75,000 selling trucks to a competing company that won the bid. (R. pp. 273-74).

On April 28, 2017, Company Two filed this action against Hampton County asserting causes of action for breach of contract, promissory estoppel, and specific performance. (R. p. 45). After reaching a settlement that County Council ultimately did not approve, the parties tried the case from May 25-27, 2021, before the Honorable Kristi Curtis.

At trial, Mr. Jones, Mr. Wilson, and Mr. Daniels testified that Company Two and Hampton County entered into an agreement in 2005 for Company Two to use the airport runway to test fire trucks. (R. pp. 288, 304-06, 379-80, 428-29, 463). Hampton County produced no direct testimony to the contrary.

The County argued with Mr. Daniels that he miswrote the 2005 agreement letter, which Mr. Daniels denied, and questioned why he did not use different language in the letter. (R. pp. 437-51). Mr. Daniels maintained that the letter means Hampton County agreed to provide Company Two with access to and use of the airport runway to test trucks. (R. pp. 437, 451). The County attorney described the agreement language as “broad” and “carte blanche use of the right-to-use a private taxiway from the northeast tip of the airport.” (R. pp. 684-85).

James Nilo testified for Company Two as an expert in airport safety operations and compliance and ARFF airport rescue and firefighting truck operations. (R. p. 476). In Nilo’s opinion, it is “perfectly acceptable” for Company Two to test fire trucks on the airport runway in whatever manner the County deems safe. (R. pp. 483-85). An FAA airport safety certification inspector told the County that no law or regulation prohibits fire truck testing on an airport runway, and the County may allow it, as it did in the 2005 agreement and for ten years following it. (R. pp. 484-87). The FAA even provides guidance on airport safety for situations when non-aircraft are

on a runway such as emergency operations training, commercial photo shoots, private events, air shows, and VIP arrivals and departures. (R. pp. 491-99). Robert Shaub testified that, when he worked for an original manufacturer of ARFF trucks, it conducted the certification tests on a city airport taxiway under a verbal cooperation agreement. (R. pp. 944, 947). Most of the ARFF truck original manufacturers have an agreement with a local airport to use a runway or taxiway for testing. (R. p. 948).

The lower court directed a verdict for Hampton County on the breach of contract and specific performance causes of action. (R. pp. 622-24, 743-44). It found the 2005 letter is a “memorandum of understanding of what the parties intend to do in the future.” (R. pp. 622-23, 743-44). It also found that there is no duration to the agreement and “the most that could be granted is a license or a right-to-use it that was revocable.” (R. p. 623, 744). The court denied the directed verdict motion as to promissory estoppel. (R. pp. 623-24).

The County then moved to dismiss the jury and proceed non-jury as to the remaining equitable promissory estoppel claim. (R. p. 627). The court granted the motion, dismissed the jury, and heard the remaining defense witnesses sitting non-jury. (R. pp. 630, 635).

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