**RECEIVED**

**Sep 28 2022**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM HAMPTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas  
The Honorable Kristi F. Curtis

---

Appellate Case Number: 2021-000685

---

The Station, Inc. d/b/a Company Two, Inc.,.....Appellant,

v.

Hampton County, .....Respondent.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

Ness & Jett, LLC  
Norma A. T. Jett  
R. Aaron Ness  
Alison Dennis Hood  
P.O. Box 909  
Bamberg, SC 29003  
(803) 245-5178  
alisondhood@gmail.com

Attorneys for Respondent

**

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

In this case the October 2005 letter, concerns a “private taxiway right to use,” and a proposed property exchange, to be negotiated in the future.<sup>2</sup> The letter is entirely devoid of any mention of the airport runway or the testing of fire trucks on the airport runway. Further, the letter contains a great deal of prospective language, indicating that the parties would continue to discuss the relationship, over time, and anticipated making additional agreements. *See Stevens & Wilkinson of S.C., Inc., v. City of Columbia*, 409 S.C. 568, 762 S.E.2d 696 (2014). Appellant concedes that this October 2005 letter does not rise to the level of a lease or a conveyance of land, as Appellant recognizes that such an interest in land would require an ordinance to be passed by Hampton County Council. See §4-9-130(6), S. C. Code of Laws. No ordinance exists giving Appellant any right to use the airport runway for the purposes of testing ARFF firetrucks.

---

<sup>1</sup> It should be noted here that both The Station, Inc. and Q & J, Properties, LLC have “done business” in the name of Company, Two, which is a fictitious name only and not a legal entity.

<sup>2</sup> The property swap was ratified, later, by the 2011 Agreement between Q & J Properties, LLC d/b/a Company Two and Hampton County, and the 2015 Easement and deeds, confirming the proposed property swap. (R. pp. 1021—1042, Defendant’s Ex. 12, 13, 14, 15). The property swap proposed in the October 2005 letter necessarily concerned Q & J Properties, LLC, d/b/a Company Two, because Q & J Properties, LLC is the entity that actually owns the real property described with the October 2005 writing, having purchased the land on October 17, 2005. (R. pp. 994—997, Plaintiff’s Ex. 3). However, the October 2005 writing does not mention Q & J Properties, LLC.

## **B. No Evidence of Oral Agreement**

Despite the plain language of the October 2005 letter, Appellant seeks to vindicate an alleged right to unfettered, perpetual access to the runway for the purposes of testing firetrucks, none of which is included within the writing. At trial, Appellant presented parol evidence, from individuals including Quincy Jones, Jim Daniel, and former County Councilman Willard Wilson, all of whom recall that the County Council discussed the airport and Appellant's desired use of the airport, prior to the October 2005 letter being delivered. (R. pp. 374—375; pp. 418—426). Quincy Jones testified that individual County Council members made commitments to him to provide the requested access. (R. pp. 305—306). These oral, unofficial discussions or representations, even if made, carry no weight.

“The parol evidence rule prevents the introduction of extrinsic evidence of agreements or understandings contemporaneous with or prior to execution of a written instrument when the extrinsic evidence is to be used to contradict, vary, or explain the written instrument.” *Gilliland v. Elmwood Props.*, 301 S.C. 295, 302, 391 S.E.2d 577, 581 (1990) (internal citations omitted); *In re Estate of Holden*, 343 S.C. 267, 275–76, 539 S.E.2d 703, 708 (2000). “Where an agreement is clear on its face and unambiguous, the court’s only function is to interpret its lawful meaning and the intent of the parties as found within the agreement.” *Stevens & Wilkinson of S.C., Inc.*, 409 S.C. at 577, 762 S.E.2d at 700 (2014). “A party cannot avoid the parol evidence rule simply by claiming he thought the contract he signed meant something other than what it said.” *Rodarte v. Univ. of S.C.*, 419 S.C. 592, 604, 799 S.E.2d 912, 918 (2017).

Daniel, the author of the October 2005 letter, testified that he didn’t know what Appellant planned to use the airport property to do. (R. pp. 418—419). Specifically, Daniel testified: “I can’t say if he specifically said, “I want to use the Airport runway,” or “just use the Airport.” (R. p. 419).

Regarding the alleged consideration of runway clean up, also entirely absent from the writing, Hampton County employees testified that they occasionally saw Appellant's employees sweeping the runway with brooms, finding the unexpected behavior, "odd." (R. pp. 336—338). Former County Administrator Sabrina Graham testified that she understood the letter to commemorate an understanding regarding the proposed property swap and taxiway only. (R. pp. 663—665; pp. 667—670). Daniel said the letter was dictated by the County Attorney. (R. pp. 417—418). The County Attorney said he didn't write or review the letter. (R. pp. 684—687). A copy of essentially the same letter was sent previously to an entirely different entity, who did not locate in Hampton County and had no need to use the runway except for normal air traffic. (R. pp. 1044—1045, Def. Ex. 18; R. pp. 792—795).

Both the writing, which Respondent asserts is unambiguous, and the record, are devoid of any evidence of any meeting of the minds preceding the October 2005 correspondence, concerning the terms put forth by Appellant in its brief as material and enforceable (including consideration, duration, scope of use of the runway for testing firetrucks, prioritization of air traffic vs. firetrucks, right to cancel or required method of cancellation).

### **C. No Implied Terms**

As the evidence of any oral agreement proves as dubious as Appellant's assertions that the October 2005 letter contains a right to test firetrucks on the runway, Appellant finally attempts to overcome the parol evidence rule (in spite of the writing) by instead asserting that the permission to use the runway should be inferred from the approximately ten years that Appellant did use the Hampton County Airport without formal objection from Hampton County Council. However, an implied contract (assuming the October 2005 writing is not an unambiguous writing) cannot arise without a meeting of the minds as to those terms considered indispensable. "Certain terms, such

as price, time and place, are considered indispensable and must be set out with reasonable certainty.” *McPeters v. Yeargin Const. Co., Inc.*, 290 S.C. 327, 331, 350 S.E.2d 208, 211 (Ct. App. 1986). Even if the parties intend to be bound by an agreement, the absence of material terms renders the agreement unenforceable. *Stevens & Wilkinson of S.C., Inc. v.* 409 S.C. at 579, 762 S.E.2d at 701 (2014); *Childs v. City of Columbia*, 87 S.C. 566, 70 S.E.296 (1911).

In this instance, duration and right to cancel or rescind are indispensable terms. At trial, Appellant produced no evidence of any agreement as to the duration of the asserted use agreement. In its brief, Appellant attempts to shift the burden regarding the alleged ambiguity to the County, asserting that any ambiguity should be construed against the County, who Appellant calls the drafter of the agreement. However, Appellant also maintains that the agreement isn’t written, such that parol evidence should be admitted and considered, and further that the terms are implied through a course of dealing. These conflicting positions are untenable.

A contract is an obligation which arises from actual agreement of the parties manifested by words, oral or written, or by conduct. *Gaskins v. Blue Cross-Blue Shield of South Carolina*, 271 S.C. 101, 245 S.E.2d 598 (1978); *Moore v. Palmetto State Life Insurance Co.*, 222 S.C. 492, 73 S.E.2d 688 (1952). If an agreement is manifested by words, the contract is said to be express. *Thomas v. Lomax*, 82 Ga.App. 592, 61 S.E.2d 790 (1950). If it is manifested by conduct, it is said to be implied. *Dowling v. Charleston & W.C. Ry. Co.*, 105 S.C. 475, 81 S.E. 313 (1913). In either case, the parties must manifest a mutual intent to be bound. *Hughes v. Edwards*, 265 S.C. 529, 220 S.E.2d 231 (1975); *Shealy v. Fowler*, 182 S.C. 81, 188 S.E. 499 (1936). “Interpretation of a contract is governed by the objective manifestation of the parties’ assent *at the time the contract was made*, rather than the subjective, after-the fact meaning one party assigns to it.” *Laser*

*Supply & Servs., Inc. v. Orchard Park Assoc.*, 382 S.C. 326, 334, 676 S.E.2d 139, 143-144 (Ct. App. 2009)(emphasis added).

In this case, there is a writing, the October 2005 letter. Appellant asserts it is incomplete, not ambiguous. Appellant asks the Court to permit parol evidence to supplement the writing. This is improper. Further, Appellant asks the Court to infer additional terms through the course of performance from 2005 to 2015, well after the initial agreement is supposed to have been entered. The analytical gymnastics necessary to cobble together the alleged agreement demonstrates that there was, in fact, no such agreement between the parties in October, 2005, express or implied, concerning the use of the runway for the purpose of testing firetrucks. “Without the actual agreement of the parties, there is no contract.” *Edens v. Laurel Hill, Inc.*, 271 S.C. 360, 247 S.E.2d 434 (1978).

The October, 2005 writing concerns a proposed property swap and a “private taxiway right to use.” Later, Hampton County delivered on these offers. (R. pp. 1021—1042, Defendant’s Exhibits 12, 13, 14, 15). The writing is an unambiguous expression of intent between the parties, to continue working together. Appellant cannot enlarge the obligations of Hampton County through parol evidence or additional implied terms. There was simply no such agreement between the parties to provide unfettered access to Appellant to the runway for the purposes of testing fire trucks. Neither the October 2005 letter, nor the parol evidence admitted at trial support the terms advanced in Appellant’s brief.

**D. No Evidence of Necessary Terms**

Setting aside the fact that Company Two is not a corporation, but a fictitious name used by The Station, Inc. (a Georgia Corporation) and Q & J Properties, LLC (a South Carolina Limited Liability Company), Appellant can produce no evidence of any agreement as to essential terms of

the nature of this alleged grant of permission. For the first time in the record of this case, on page 17 of its Brief, Appellant asserts, “the duration is plainly limited by the lifetime of Company Two as a business in Hampton County.” There is no evidence in the record below of a meeting of the minds concerning the duration, expiration, or method of cancellation of the “right-to use” permission Appellant claims. At the trial court, Appellant argued that the duration of the contractual arrangement was unclear, and it would be up to the jury or trial judge to determine the duration of the permissive use agreement. (R. p. 538).

Respondent asserts that any oral evidence of such representations by Daniel or former County Council members should be dismissed summarily under the parol evidence rule. Appellant repeatedly asks this Court to select, *a la carte*, language from the October 2005 writing and various recollected oral representations and implied terms to stitch together a contractual arrangement that is not otherwise memorialized or supported by the evidence. Specifically, in its brief, Appellant creates from whole cloth contract terms concerning relocation by Appellant in exchange for maintenance and foreign object debris removal, for the term of “the lifetime of Company Two as a business in Hampton County.” These provisions are not recorded in any writing in this case, nor are they born out in the witness testimony. “A contract is an obligation which arises from actual agreement of the parties manifested by words, oral or written, or by conduct.” *Regions Bank v. Schmauch*, 354 S.C. 648, 660, 582 S.E.2d 432, 439 (Ct. App. 2003). Appellant seems to assert that contractual obligations can arise from oral AND written representations AND conduct, roughly hewn together to create a meeting of the minds.

Appellant cites *Benya v. Gamble*, 282 S.C. 624, 321 S.E.2d 57 (Ct. App. 1984) for the proposition that this jumble of evidence should have been submitted to a jury, who might draft a contract for the parties, in the absence of any valid terms. In *Benya*, the parties both signed a

written contract for the sale of real property. The holding concerns the interpretation of a single document that both parties signed and dated. It does not call for submission to a jury of a document (like the October 2005 writing), oral representations, or a course of dealing, with an instruction that the jury draft an agreement for the parties where none previously existed.

Further, Appellant asks the Court to disregard completely the fact that Hampton County is not an individual. Hampton County is a political subdivision of the State of South Carolina. It does business only through its duly elected County Council, and only in public, open session.

**III. It is Manifestly Unreasonable to Rely on an Unofficial Representation from an Individual Regarding Permission to Use the Assets of Hampton County**

At most, Appellant asserts, but does not establish, that Hampton County allowed Appellant to test fire trucks on the runway of the Hampton County Airport from 2005 through 2015. At most, such permission, if proven, could be characterized as a revocable license.<sup>3</sup> *See Briarcliff Acres v. Briarcliff Realty*, 262 S.C. 599, 206 S.E.2d 886 (1974); *see also McClellan v. Taylor*, 54 S.C. 430, 32 S.E. 527 (1899). A license is revocable by the grantor. *See Couch v. Burke*, 20 S.C.L. 534, 535 (S.C. App. L. & Eq. 1835). Any grant of a permanent encumbrance (or a use that cannot be performed within one year) on the real property of Hampton County would require an ordinance and a writing, signed by both parties. *See* §4-9-130(6), *S. C. Code of Laws*; *see also Davis v. Greenwood Sch. Dist.*, 50, 365 S.C. 629, 620 S.E.2d 65 (2005); *see also* §32-3-10(4) and (5), S. C. Code of Laws.<sup>4</sup>

---

<sup>3</sup> A revocable license would still require a formal action by Hampton County Council, pursuant to §4-9-30, S. C. Code of Laws, including the making and executing of contracts. *See* §4-9-30(3), S. C. Code of Laws.

<sup>4</sup> In its brief, Appellant asserts that the alleged grant of permission includes an implied duration term that is “plainly limited by the lifetime of Company Two as a business in Hampton County.” As this proposed term exceeds one year, The Statute of Frauds requires a signed writing. The October, 2005 letter is not a signed writing.

In the absence of the material element of duration, which Appellant agrees is absent in this case, an agreement is terminable at will by either party. *Doe v. TCSC, LLC*, 430 S.C. 602, 846 S.E.2d 874 (Ct. App. 2020); *Childs v. City of Columbia*, 87 S.C. 566, 70 S.E. 296 (1911).<sup>5</sup>

In light of the revocability of any license or permission made to Appellant by Hampton County, concerning the use of the runway for the purposes of testing fire trucks, Appellant's cause of action for promissory estoppel fails, as a matter of law.

"The elements of promissory estoppel are: (1) an unambiguous promise by the promisor; (2) reasonable reliance on the promise by the promisee; (3) reliance by the promisee was expected by and foreseeable to the promisor; and (4) injury caused to the promisee by his reasonable reliance." *North American Rescue Products, Inc. v. Richardson*, 411 S.C. 371, 378, 769 S.E.2d 237, 241 (2015); *Barnes v. Johnson*, 402 S.C. 458, 742 S.E.2d 6 (Ct. App. 2013). Because promissory estoppel does not require a contract, "the promise to be enforced must be **unambiguous with clearly articulated, definite terms**, while the sustained injury must result from an inconsistent disposition by the promisor." *Id.* at 470, 742 S.E.2d at 11 (emphasis added). The absence of clearly articulated terms between the parties to an alleged promise precludes recovery under a theory of promissory estoppel. *Rushing v. McKinney*, 370 S.C. 280, 295, 633 S.E.2d 917, 925 (Ct. App. 2006)(holding that a promise involving an investment opportunity was too ambiguous to be enforced where the plaintiff could not clearly articulate the terms of the investment opportunity). In this case, as discussed above, the terms advanced by Appellant appear

---

<sup>5</sup> In its brief, Appellant asserts that Hampton County failed to properly terminate the permissive use or license. Appellant asserts in its brief that this is a question of fact, which should have been submitted to a jury. However, Appellant did not raise this argument below and did not present any evidence of any damages or harm stemming from the manner in which Hampton County alerted Appellant to the termination of the permission to use. Therefore, this issue is not preserved for review.

nowhere in the evidence of record of this case, neither in a writing or in any formal statement from Hampton County Council.

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